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Federal Prosecutors and Regulators Probe 
Investment Funds’ 10b5-1 Trading Plans 
BY THE SECURITIES LITIGATION & ENFORCEMENT, SECURITIES & CAPITAL MARKETS, AND INVESTMENT 
MANAGEMENT PRACTICES 

Over a decade ago, the U.S. Securities & Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) promulgated 
Rule 10b5-1, which codified the SEC’s position that trading while in “possession” of material nonpublic 
information was sufficient to establish liability for insider trading under Section 10(b) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 and SEC Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder.1 Rule 10b5-1 also provides 
certain affirmative defenses for those under investigation for or charged with insider trading. The U.S. 
Department of Justice and government regulators recently initiated investigations into trades in 
securities of several companies made pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 trading plans by hedge funds and the 
people who manage them. 

A Rule 10b5-1 trading plan permits corporate insiders and others to whom material nonpublic 
information has been entrusted to schedule in advance when to buy or sell securities, how much, and 
at what price, regardless of whether the trader possesses inside information at the time of the trade, 
so long as the trader satisfies specific criteria at the time the plan is implemented or amended. Most 
significantly, the plan needs to be entered into at a time prior to the possession of the material and 
nonpublic information. As innovative Rule 10b5-1 trading plans were developed, hedge funds and 
investment funds began to implement them to address the trading of securities of companies for 
which the fund manager was also a company insider, most often a board member, or a person to 
whom inside information was entrusted. Hedge funds, investment funds, fund managers, and 
corporations should consult with counsel to implement best practices for creating, revising, and 
utilizing Rule 10b5-1 trading plans to eliminate the appearance of impropriety and ensure they are 
afforded the protection of the Rule 10b5-1 affirmative defense. 

Insider Trading Theories of Liability 

Insider trading is the unlawful trading in securities based on material non-public information and is a 
violation of section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b–5.2 A corporate insider 
is prohibited from trading on the basis of material nonpublic information in the securities of the 
corporation for which he or she owes a duty of trust and confidence to shareholders.3 A second theory, 
known as the misappropriation theory, forbids the trading of securities by non-corporate insiders to 
whom material non-public information has been entrusted in confidence and whose trading for 
personal gain would as a result breach a fiduciary duty or other relationship of trust and confidence to 
the source of the information.4 
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Individuals charged with insider trading face significant civil and criminal liability and sanctions. 
Insider trading violations may result in civil and potentially criminal penalties. The SEC may seek civil 
penalties, disgorgement of profits, and prejudgment interest as well as injunctive relief prohibiting 
individuals from serving as an executive or board member for a public company.5 Federal prosecutors 
may seek criminal penalties of up to $5,000,000 and up to 20 years in prison for individuals per 
violation, although criminal sentences in insider trading cases typically have been driven by the gain 
or the amount of loss avoided, which is the starting point in the sentencing guidelines analysis.6 

Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans 

Rule 10b5-1 provides for affirmative defenses by which a trader’s purchase or sale of a security is not 
a violation under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b5-1, including in instances in which a trading plan was 
implemented to detail the timing and amount of securities to be purchased or sold, or a formula for 
determining the amount, price, and date to sell.7 

The Rule 10b5-1 trading plan permits persons – including “non-natural person” (i.e., entities) – to 
create trading plans detailing the intentions to make trades in the relevant securities during periods 
when an individual may possess material and nonpublic information.8 Under Rule 10b5-1, the plan 
participant is prohibited from exercising any subsequent influence over how, when, or whether to 
effect transactions in the securities.9 

In recent years, Rule 10b5-1 trading plans have become a popular vehicle for executives and non-
employee directors to trade a company’s securities on their own and for funds that they manage 
despite their insider status. Because Rule 10b5-1 trading plans need not be disclosed to all 
shareholders, funds need not disclose the formulas and algorithms used to determine when to execute 
trades, thus protecting this proprietary information. Such trading plans by investment funds, however, 
have recently garnered increased scrutiny from federal prosecutors and regulators. 

Regulators have expressed concerns regarding the results of academic studies that revealed that Rule 
10b5-1 plans generate abnormally high returns compared to the returns of those trades made without 
Rule 10b5-1 plans.10 Federal prosecutors and regulators have since indicated their intent to probe the 
abusive use of 10b5-1 plans. 

Recent Government Inquiries into Hedge Fund Trading via 10b5-1 Plans 

The Wall Street Journal (the “WSJ”) recently reported that the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Eastern 
District of New York sent subpoenas to three companies and three investment funds requesting 
information related to trades made by the funds pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 trading plans.11 The WSJ 
stated that the investigation is an outgrowth of a similar investigation launched in recent weeks by the 
U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of New York. The WSJ indicated that federal 
prosecutors and the SEC plan to meet to discuss the probes. The WSJ cited sources with knowledge of 
the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Eastern District of New York’s investigation as stating that the 
government has requested documents and email communications related to trading pursuant to Rule 
10b5-1 trading plans. In particular, the U.S. Attorney’s Office is interested in trades made by hedge 
funds managed by non-employee directors of the company in whose securities the fund executed 
trades. The Wall Street Journal stated that the U.S. Attorney’s probe for one company involves a 
10b5-1 trading plan created for a fund whose manager serves as a board member for the company. 

In recent years, hedge funds with significant positions in public companies have begun to use Rule 
10b5-1 trading plans more frequently as a way to protect against liability under Rule 10b-5. This 
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frequency of use has been driven, at least in part, by the increased attention that federal prosecutors 
and the SEC have devoted to insider trading investigations and proceedings in the hedge fund space. 

We expect that federal prosecutors and regulators will focus on whether the Rule 10b5-1 trading plans 
were entered into, modified, and/or terminated in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to 
capitalize on inside information. 

Investment funds and fund managers should strongly consider implementing best practices when 
creating, modifying, or terminating Rule 10b5-1 trading plans to maximize the availability and 
usefulness of the affirmative defense provided by Rule 10b5-1 in the event of a law enforcement or 
regulatory investigation. Importantly, following the best practices related to modifying, suspending, or 
terminating an existing 10b5-1 trading plan will greatly reduce the appearance that the trading plan is 
being manipulated to incorporate material nonpublic information. Paul Hastings can assist with the 
design of 10b5-1 trading plans and other policies designed to reduce the risk of Rule 10b-5 liability. 

   

Partners Kenneth M. Breen, Joshua G. Hamilton, Mitchell Nichter, Scott R. Saks, and associate 
Timothy D. Reynolds contributed to this alert. 
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If you have any questions concerning these developing issues, please do not hesitate to contact any of 
the following Paul Hastings lawyers: 

Atlanta 

Elizabeth Noe 
1.404.815.2287 
elizabethnoe@paulhastings.com 

Walter Jospin 
1.404.815.2203 
walterjospin@paulhastings.com 

Rey Pascual 
1.404.815.2227 
reypascual@paulhastings.com 

Chicago 

Mark D. Pollack 
1.312.499.6050 
markpollack@paulhastings.com 

Los Angeles 

John S. Durrant 
1.213.683.6144 
johndurrant@paulhastings.com 

Joshua G. Hamilton 
1.213.683.6186 
joshuahamilton@paulhastings.com 

Thomas P. O’Brien 
1.213.683.6146 
thomasobrien@paulhastings.com 

Howard M. Privette 
1.213.683.6229 
howardprivette@paulhastings.com 

William F. Sullivan 
1.213.683.6252 
williamsullivan@paulhastings.com 

Thomas A. Zaccaro 
1.213.683.6285 
thomaszaccaro@paulhastings.com 

Art Zwickel 
1.213.683.6161 
artzwickel@paulhastings.com 

Houston 
 
Samuel Cooper 
1.713.860.7305 
samuelcooper@paulhastings.com 
 
New York 

Kenneth M. Breen 
1.212.318.6344 
kennethbreen@paulhastings.com 

Alan J. Brudner 
1.212.318.6262 
alanbrudner@paulhastings.com 

Maria E. Douvas 
1.212.318.6072 
mariadouvas@paulhastings.com 

Douglas Koff 
1.212.318.6772 
douglaskoff@paulhastings.com 

Kevin Logue 
1.212.318.6039 
kevinlogue@paulhastings.com 

Michael Rosella 
1.212.318.6800 
mikerosella@paulhastings.com 
 
Scott Saks 
1.212.318.6311 
scottsaks@paulhastings.com 

Barry G. Sher 
1.212.318.6085 
barrysher@paulhastings.com 

Carla R. Walworth 
1.212.318.6466 
carlawalworth@paulhastings.com 
 
Michael Zuppone 
1.212.318.6906 
michaelzuppone@paulhastings.com 

Palo Alto 

Peter M. Stone 
1.650.320.1843 
peterstone@paulhastings.com 

Edward Han 
1.650.320.1813 
edwardhan@paulhastings.com 

San Diego 

Christopher H. McGrath 
1.858.458.3027 
chrismcgrath@paulhastings.com 

San Francisco 

Grace Carter 
1.415.856.7015 
gracecarter@paulhastings.com 

David Hearth 
1.415.856.7007 
davidhearth@paulhastings.com 
 
Mitchell Nichter 
1.415.856.7009 
mitchellnichter@paulhastings.com 

Washington, D.C. 

Kirby D. Behre 
1.202.551.1719 
kirbybehre@paulhastings.com 

Morgan J. Miller 
1.202.551.1861 
morganmiller@paulhastings.com 

Investment Management 

Securities & Capital Markets 

http://www.paulhastings.com/area/professionals/?id=9
http://www.paulhastings.com/area/professionals/?id=14
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1 See 17 CFR § 240.10b5-1. Rule 10b5-1 applies to actions brought by the SEC, which are civil in nature. There is 

currently a split of authority among federal circuit courts as to whether mere possession, as opposed to use, is 
sufficient to sustain an insider trader conviction. 

2 See S.E.C. v. Obus, 693 F.3d 276, 284 (2d Cir. 2012); Dirks v. SEC, 463 U.S. 646, 653–54 (1983); Chiarella v. United 
States, 445 U.S. 222, 226–30 (1980). 

3 Chiarella, 445 U.S. at 228. 
4 United States v. O’Hagan, 521 U.S. 642, 652 (1997). 
5 See 15 U.S.C. §§ 78u-1, 78t-1. 
6 See 15 U.S.C. § 78ff. Non-natural persons may face criminal penalties of $25,000,000. See id. 
7 See id. To afford the benefit under Rule 10b5-1, a person must demonstrate that before becoming aware of the 

material and nonpublic information, the person “(1) entered into a binding contract to purchase or sell the security, (2) 
instructed another person to purchase or sell the security for the instructing person’s account, or (3) adopted a written 
plan for trading securities.” Id. (emphasis added). 

8 See id. at § 240.10b5-1(c) (2). Rule 10b5-1 likewise permits a person other than a natural person to invoke the 
benefits of the affirmative defense if the non-natural person demonstrates that “the individual making the investment 
decision on behalf of the person to purchase or sell the securities was not aware of the information and the person 
implemented reasonable policies and procedures[.]” Id. 

9 See id. at § 240.10b5-1(c) (1) (i)(B)(3). 
10 Jagolinzer, Alan D., Sec Rule 10b5-1 and Insiders’ Strategic Trade (February 1, 2009). Management Science, February 

2009. 
11 In a May 9, 2013, article the WSJ stated that the Council of Institutional Investors, an agency which represents pension 

funds, sent a letter to the SEC requesting the regulator to tighten rules on 10b5-1 trading plans to prevent abuse. The 
WSJ noted that the Council of Institutional Investors’ letter to the SEC was sent after the WSJ published recent articles 
about potential abusive use of 10b5-1 trading plans that spurred federal prosecutor and regulators to investigate. The 
WSJ stated that the SEC declined to comment on the letter, but indicates the SEC intends to continue to address 
abuses of trading plans through enforcement actions. 
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